
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PLANNING DEPARTMENT 

196 Laurel Street | P.O. Drawer 1075 | Conway, South Carolina 29528-1075 | Telephone (843) 488-9888 | www.cityofconway.com 

MAYOR 
Barbara Jo Blain-Bellamy 

 
 

MAYOR PRO TEM 
Larry A. White 

 

COUNCIL MEMBERS 
Amanda Butler 

William M. Goldfinch, IV 
Julie Hardwick 

Beth Helms 
Justin D. Jordan 

 

 

CITY OF CONWAY 
TREE BOARD MEETING AGENDA 
 Wednesday, June 26, 2024 | 4:00 p.m. 

City of Conway Planning & Building Dept. – 196 Laurel Street 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER 

 
II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES – February 14, 2024 

 
III. TREE APPEALS 

 
A. Previously Deferred: 1501 9th Ave (Falk Family Chiropractic & Wellness): The applicant, Daniel 

Falk, is requesting approval to remove a landmark tree, from the property located at 1501 9th Ave (PIN 
338-14-03-0031). 

 
IV. PUBLIC INPUT 

 
V. BOARD INPUT 

 
VI. STAFF INPUT 

 
VII. ADJOURN 

 



2/14/24 Tree Board 
 

CITY OF CONWAY 
TREE BOARD MEETING 

WEDNESDAY, FEBRUARY 14, 2024 
 
Present: Jacqueline Kurlowski, McKenzie Jordan, Troy Roehm, Duc Watts, Gerry Wallace, Jamie 

McLain, Coker Hall 
 
Staff: Katie Dennis, Planning Concierge; Marcus Cohen, IT; Wanda Lilly, Arborist 
 
Other: Linda Koretic  
 

I. CALL TO ORDER 
 

Chairman Wallace called the meeting to order at approximately 5:07 p.m. 

II. APPROVAL OF MINUTES  
 

McLain made a motion to accept the minutes as written and seconded by Kurlowski to approve the May 24, 2023 
minutes. The vote in favor was unanimous. The motion carried. 
 

III. ELECTION OF OFFICERS 
Jordan made a motion to elect Coker Hall as Vice Chairperson. The motion was seconded by Kurlowski. Jordan 
made a motion to close nominations seconded by Mclain. The vote in favor to close was unanimous. The motion 
carried. The vote in favor to elect Coker Hall as Vice Chairperson was unanimous. The motion Carried. 

 

Jordan made a motion to re-elect Gerry Wallace as Chairperson. The motion was seconded by Watts. Jordan made 
a motion to close nominations seconded by Mclain. The vote in favor to close was unanimous. The motion carried. 
The vote in favor to elect Gerry Wallace as Chairperson was unanimous. The motion carried. 

 

IV. TREE MITIGATION REQUESTS 
 

A. 1501 9th Ave (Falk Family Chiropractic & Wellness): The applicant, Daniel Falk, is requesting approval to 
remove a landmark tree, from the property located at 1501 9th Ave. (PIN 338-14-03-0031) 
 

Dennis stated the applicant, Daniel Falk, is requesting approval to remove a landmark tree, from the property 
located at 1501 9th Ave. 
The tree in question is located in middle back of the parcel. The tree is a Quercus Virginiana (Live Oak) and 
measures 3’ 3” in diameter at breast height.  

This tree has one limb that extends over the roof of the building. It is staffs understanding that the applicant 
would like the tree removed due to the state of this limb as well as wanting to build on to his existing business in 
the future. 

The applicant provided a letter from an arborist, written on January 6th of 2023 who stated “On the date of my 
observation several large sections of the tree canopy were bare. The largest of the dead section was overhanging 
the clinic.” He continued with this recommendation “Because there are multiple dead large diameter leaders, it 
is likely that the tree is in an acute decline, and it is not likely to benefit from corrective pruning and or 
fertilizing. For these reasons, I recommend removal of the tree in question.” 

Following the request to remove the tree City Arborist, Wanda Lilly, inspected the tree and provided the 



2/14/24 Tree Board 
 
following as her diagnosis and recommendation. 

“It appears that the major limb of concern exhibits signs that there may be a root issue. Potentially caused during 
construction of an addition to the building in 2018. If any portion of the root was severed at that time, it could 
explain what has caused the limb to be in a state of stress. Time is necessary to establish the extent of the 
damage and to allow the tree the opportunity to recover. My recommendation is to wait and make a more 
professional decision after spring when the tree has time to recover in a warmer climate.” 

To allow for a third-party decision not one provided by the City arborist or one provided by the property owner 
staff requested Arborist, Lois Edwards of Tree City USA, to provide her input as well. She stated “I do not 
recommend that the tree between the two buildings be removed at this time. The leafless branches may still have 
living tissue and not be totally dead branches. It would be best to wait to see if they leaf out this spring.” She 
continued by saying “half the tree is in good shape and it might be good to investigate why just one side of the 
tree looks to be in poor health. Many times, just one large root is damaged thus effecting the on side of the tree. I 
do believe it is a root issue and effecting the crown.” And finished up her recommendation by stating “I agree 
with your recommendation not to remove the tree at this time. More time is needed to see what exact issues the 
tree has.” 

The recommendations from each arborist and pictures of the tree are included in your packet. 

The board and staff discussed in length. 
Mclain made a motion to defer the item to the second meeting in June to allow the tree time to leaf out at the 
recommendation of City Arborist. The applicant is not to prune the tree or the limbs until after the item comes 
before the board again and then the applicant is to work with the City Arborist to ensure proper pruning protocols 
are met. Kurlowski seconded the motion. The vote in favor was unanimous. The motion carried. 
 

V. BOARD INPUT 
Kurlowski wanted to voice her concern with the ability to establish validity to an applicant’s claims of an 
unhealthy tree. Staff advised the current policy. 
Jordan wanted to request staff to rework the Tree ordinance to include removal of trees on developed properties 
as the protected tree section allows. Jordan also requests staff to explore including language or a program in which 
landmark trees through out the City, both public and private, could be maintained and monitored by City staff. 

 

VI. PUBLIC INPUT 
None 

 

VII. STAFF INPUT  
Dennis informed the board about the City partnering with Conway Elementary School to enter into a lottery 
pool to win a Moon Tree from NASA. Staff informed the board they would keep them updated on the progress. 
 

VIII. ADJOURN 
There being no further business to come before the Board, a motion was made and seconded to adjourn the 
meeting at approx. 5:03 p.m. The vote in favor was unanimous and the motion carried. 

 
Approved and signed this    day of    , 2023. 

 
           
    Gerry Wallace, Chairperson 



                                                                                                              DATE: June 26, 2024 
                                                                                                              ITEM: III. A. 
ISSUE: 
1501 9th Ave (Falk Family Chiropractic & Wellness): The applicant, Daniel Falk, is requesting 
approval to remove a landmark tree, from the property located at 1501 9th Ave (PIN 338-14-03-0031). 
 
ZONING DISTRICT: 
Professional (P) 

 
SCOPE OF WORK: 
The applicant, Daniel Falk, is requesting approval to remove a landmark tree, from the property located 
at 1501 9th Ave (PIN 338-14-03-0031). 
 
The tree in question is located in middle back of the parcel. The tree is a Quercus Virginiana (Live Oak) 
and measures 3’ 3” in diameter at breast height.  
 
This tree has one limb that extends over the roof of the building. It is staffs understanding that the 
applicant would like the tree removed due to the state of this limb as well as wanting to build on to his 
existing business in the future. 
 
The applicant provided a letter from an arborist, written on January 6th of 2023 who stated “On the date 
of my observation several large sections of the tree canopy were bare. The largest of the dead section 
was overhanging the clinic.” He continued with this recommendation “Because there are multiple dead 
large diameter leaders, it is likely that the tree is in an acute decline, and it is not likely to benefit from 
corrective pruning and or fertilizing. For these reasons, I recommend removal of the tree in question.” 
 
Following the request to remove the tree City Arborist, Wanda Lilly, inspected the tree and provided the 
following as her diagnosis and recommendation. 
 
“It appears that the major limb of concern exhibits signs that there may be a root issue. Potentially caused 
during construction of an addition to the building in 2018. If any portion of the root was severed at that 
time, it could explain what has caused the limb to be in a state of stress. Time is necessary to establish 
the extent of the damage and to allow the tree the opportunity to recover. My recommendation is to wait 
and make a more professional decision after spring when the tree has time to recover in a warmer 
climate.” 
 
 



To allow for a third-party decision not one provided by the City arborist or one provided by the property 
owner staff requested Arborist, Lois Edwards of Tree City USA, to provide her input as well. She stated 
“I do not recommend that the tree between the two buildings be removed at this time. The leafless 
branches may still have living tissue and not be totally dead branches. It would be best to wait to see if 
they leaf out this spring.” She continued by saying “half the tree is in good shape and it might be good 
to investigate why just one side of the tree looks to be in poor health. Many times, just one large root is 
damaged thus effecting the on side of the tree. I do believe it is a root issue and effecting the crown.” 
And finished up her recommendation by stating “I agree with your recommendation not to remove the 
tree at this time. More time is needed to see what exact issues the tree has.” 
 
The recommendations from each arborist and pictures of the tree are included in your packet. 
 
New Information 
At the February 14th CAB Meeting the board voted to defer the item until the first meeting in June. The 
applicant requested to be heard at the June 26th meeting and due to the tree’s continued decline is 
requesting to remove the tree. 
 
The applicant agreed for City staff to acquire a soil sample and have the soil tested. The test, done by 
Clemson Extension’s Plant and Pest Diagnostic Clinic, showed that the tree symptoms “resemble those 
of the oak decline phenomenon.”  
 
City Arborist visited the tree on June 21st and made the following determination. 
“On June 21, 2024 the tree in question has declined more from the first inspection. The limbs that are 
dead and dying are dying from the tip of the limb down to the base of the tree, this is indicative of a soil 
root system problem. The overall size of the diameter at breast height could support a much larger canopy 
than what is currently found on this tree. The determination of my findings combined with the 
information in the soil analysis is that the tree will only continue to decline. Due to the surrounding area 
and the possibility of damage and or harm to people. I regretfully have come to the conclusion that it is 
in the interests of avoiding any potential damage or harm, that the tree should be removed. According to 
Section 3-4-9 (b) (1) “the tree is classed as a hazard tree, is in irreversible decline, and cannot be properly 
pruned to alleviate such condition.” However, in accordance with Section 3-4-9 (b) “a condition of the 
landmark tree removal permit shall be mitigation as defined in Section 3-4-10.” 
 
Mitigation in accordance with section 3-4-10 would be as follows. 
 
 
 



 
Mitigation Total 
 
The total inches to be removed is 36 divided by 4 = 9.  So, 9 trees will need to be planted at a 4-inch 
caliper minimum at time of planting 
-OR- 
a fee of 9 x $850 = $7,650.00 will need to be submitted to the Planning & Development department.  
 
36 = total DBH of all landmark/protected trees proposed for removal 
9 = total number of mitigated trees required to be planted (in addition to trees required as part of the 
landscape buffer requirements) 
$7,650.00 = fee-in-lieu amount of replacing the number of mitigated trees (i.e. pay mitigation fee-in-
lieu instead of replanting the number of trees required for mitigation of the protected trees that are 
proposed for removal) 
Or a combination of both plantings and fee-in-lieu. 
 
The board has the ability to determine mitigation as they see fit. 
 
Photos and soil reports are included in your packet. 

 
Applicable Standards 
City of Conway Tree Board Ordinance: 
 Section 3.4.6: Definitions 
 Section 3.4.8: Tree Preservation 
 Section 3.4.9: Tree Permits Required 
 Section 3.4.10: Mitigation of trees approved for removal 
 Section 3.4.12: Tree Pruning 
 Section 3.4.13: Exemptions from this Chapter  

 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION:  
Staff recommends following the arborist’s recommendation and determine a mitigation amount. 





Final Report

Report for Wanda Lilly:

The symptoms on the tree resemble those of the oak decline phenomenon. The following information came from an U.S.
National Park Service website (https://www.nps.gov/articles/oak-decline.htm).

What is oak decline?

For centuries, oak trees (genus Quercus) have dominated forests of the Eastern United States. They are vital
components of deciduous forest ecosystems and are one of North America's most valuable hardwoods. In recent
years however, populations of many oak species have dramatically declined. Symptoms include early browning of
leaves, thinning of canopy cover, and loss of branches, which can eventually lead to tree mortality. Understanding
and preventing this phenomenon has been challenging, given that no single factor is responsible for what is
generally defined as Oak Decline.

A host of stressors including climate, tree age, site conditions, and history of disease interact to weaken trees over
time, ultimately leading to plant death when the tree’s resources are exhausted. This "death by a thousand cuts"
makes prevention of oak decline difficult, as stressors can vary both over time and by location.

Invasive pests, drought, fire suppression, and soil compaction from human activities are among the primary
factors influencing oak decline in our region in recent years. Although most healthy, mature oaks can contend
with one or a few of these stressors, in combination, they weaken the tree and make it more susceptible to

Sample# 202400132

Field ID

Host Live Oak

Received Date 3/12/2024

County Horry

State SCDIAGNOSTIC REPORT
Contact:

Wanda Lilly

City of Conway
196 Laurel St.
CONWAY SC 29528

Phone Fax Email
843-455-8563 wlilly@conwaysc.gov

Submitter :

Horry County

HORRY COUNTY EXT OFFICE
1949 INDUSTRIAL PARK
CONWAY SC 29526-0000

Phone Fax

Email

(843)365-6715

cohorry@clemson.edu

Diagnosis and Recommendations

Host/Habitat Live Oak (Quercus virginiana)

List of Diagnosis/ID(s)

Not Detected: No pathogen found (No Detection)

Page 1 of 2

Plant and Pest Diagnostic Clinic
Plant and Pest Diagnostic Clinic 
511 Westinghouse Road
Pendleton SC 29670
Telephone : 864-646-2133

Diagnosed By :
Curt Colburn (gcolbur@clemson.edu)
Completed Date: 4/3/2024

Sam
ple#

202400132

https://www.nps.gov/articles/oak-decline.htm


secondary factors, such as fungal and bacterial infections. In the National Capital Area, Armillaria root rot
fungus, two-lined chestnut borer beetle (Agrilus bilineatus), and bacterial leaf scorch (caused by Xylella fastidiosa)
are commonly blamed for killing oaks, even though they typically only attack trees that are already in a state of
decline.

What can you do?

Despite these factors, there are ways to prevent oak decline; by maintaining oak trees in a healthy state you can
limit the impact of different stressors. This may include,

Removing invasive vines from trees
Avoiding damage to tree limbs, trunk, and roots
Monitoring trees for insect pests and fungal and bacterial infections
Pruning damaged/diseased limbs
Mulching around the base of trees to protect roots
Watering trees during dry spells and limiting pesticide use
Consulting with local forestry experts and ISA Certified Arborists for advice and assistance on tree-related
issues

Page 2 of 2

Plant and Pest Diagnostic Clinic
Plant and Pest Diagnostic Clinic 
511 Westinghouse Road
Pendleton SC 29670
Telephone : 864-646-2133

Diagnosed By :
Curt Colburn (gcolbur@clemson.edu)
Completed Date: 4/3/2024

Sam
ple#

202400132

This diagnosis/identification is based on the sample and accompanying information. Findings may not apply to the entire planting/habitat. Use all recommended
pesticides according to label directions, precautions and restrictions.



























TITLE 3 - Public Works 
CHAPTER 4 Tree Preservation* 

 
 

 
Conway, South Carolina, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 1 of 10 

CHAPTER 4 Tree Preservation* 

* Prior ordinance history: Ord. No. ZA99-10-25(B).  

Sec. 3-4-1 Introduction. 

The preservation of trees and natural vegetation is deeply rooted in the history of Conway and is a critical 
public concern. Few communities can actually boast that they build streets around trees as Conway does. Few 
communities attach names and historical significance to particular trees as Conway does. The live oak trees, which 
line many streets within the city, are probably the city's most prized and most protected natural resource. Local 
legend has it that when the large oaks along Main Street were threatened by the construction of the railroad in 
1887, Mrs. Mary Beaty, who lived near the Wade Hampton Oak, appeared with a loaded shotgun and demanded 
that the construction workers "touch not a single bough." The actions of Mary Beaty have inspired the citizens of 
Conway to actively protect the live oak trees as well as certain other native tree species. It is felt that Mrs. Beaty's 
actions that day were the genesis of tree protection, not only in Conway, but in the State of South Carolina.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-2 Intent. 

The intent of the City of Conway tree protection ordinance is to accomplish the following:  

(a) To provide for the protection, preservation, proper maintenance, and use of trees and woodlands;  

(b) To minimize disturbance and prevent damage from erosion and destruction of the natural habitat 
without denying the reasonable use and enjoyment of the property within the city;  

(c) To protect trees and woodlands (including other forms of vegetation) for their economic support of 
local property values and for their natural beauty, wilderness character, or geological, ecological or 
historical significance;  

(d) To address the public concern for these valued natural resources in the interest of health, safety, and 
general welfare of the residents of the City of Conway;  

(e) To encourage the beautification, air-cooling and purification, noise abatement, property value 
enhancement and the other attributes of trees within a city;  

(f) To naturally control flooding and erosion, moderate noise pollution, dust, and other airborne 
pollutants, moderate the city climate and shelter and feed wildlife;  

(g) To enable citizens to prevent and control the spread of diseases, to preserve trees in the path of 
development, and to avoid the unnecessary cost associated with sewer clogging, sidewalk replacement 
and tree-related accidents.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-3 Applicability. 

This chapter shall apply to all trees of any type located on public or private property inside the city limits of 
the City of Conway, South Carolina. Please refer to section 3-4-9, Tree permits required, for the applicability of 
each type of permit.  



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 2 of 10 

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-4 Jurisdiction. 

The city arborist shall be responsible for the administration of all provisions of this chapter and for public 
tree management. The city arborist shall be assisted in his/her administration of these regulations by the Conway 
tree board, established below.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-5 Conway tree board. 

The Conway city council hereby establishes a board of appointed citizens as the Conway tree board. The 
members of this board serve concurrently as appointed members of the community appearance board (CAB), 
already established. Any duties described in the appointment of the CAB that relate to tree issues hereby convey 
to the Conway tree board, as do any present appointment of members and scheduling of board meetings. The 
Conway tree board is one and the same as the CAB, with duties and responsibilities as described in its charter. All 
current appointments remain in effect until each respective member's normal expiration of term. Future 
appointments to the community appearance board will include appointment to the Conway tree board. Any 
reference to the tree board in this chapter also refers to the current community appearance board.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-6 Definitions. 

All words in these standards have their customary dictionary definition except as specifically defined herein. 
The words "shall" and "must" are mandatory, and the words "may" and "should" are permissive. Technical terms 
used are defined as follows:  

(1) Area : The area of a tree, as defined in this chapter, shall be arrived at by multiplying pi (3.14, a 
constant) times the square of the radius of the tree (where the radius equals one and one-half (1 ½) 
times the diameter breast high) or the standard area formula: A = pi X r squared.  

(2) ANSI (current edition) : American National Standards Institute. The ANSI A300 standards represent the 
industry consensus on performing tree care operations.  

(3) Caliper : A caliper measurement shall be measured six (6) inches above the soil line, or across the 
stump, in the event the tree has been severed at less than 12 inches above the soil line.  

(4) Critical root zone : That area of tree roots under the canopy measured to be no less than one and one-
half (1 ½) feet in radius for every inch of trunk diameter measured four and one-half (4 ½) feet above 
the ground.  

(5) Diameter breast height (d.b.h.) : The diameter measurement of a tree is measured at four and one-half 
(4 ½) feet above ground level and is referred to as diameter, breast high, commonly abbreviated as 
d.b.h. Trees consisting of two (2) or more stems in which the fork is below d.b.h. are considered as 
separate trees and the diameter is measured for each stem separately. If a fork occurs exactly at d.b.h., 
the diameter measurement is taken immediately below the enlargement caused by the fork. 
Measurements shall be made by use of an arborist diameter tape or arborist tree calipers.  

(6) Drip line : An imaginary vertical line extending downward from the outermost tips of the tree branches 
to ground level.  



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 3 of 10 

(7) Grubbing : The removal of understory vegetation which does not remove any trees with a d.b.h. of four 
(4) inches or greater.  

(8) Hazard tree : A tree, or tree part that may be dangerous and is likely to fail and cause damage or injury, 
and the likelihood of failure exceeds an acceptable level of risk. The city arborist shall make such 
determination with the mayor's approval.  

(9) Pruning : The cutting or removing of any part of the branching structure of a tree in the crown, trunk or 
root areas.  

(10) Public nuisance (trees that have become) : Any tree with an untreatable disease or insect pest 
problem; dead trees or trees in irreversible decline; a tree or limb(s) that obstruct street lights, traffic 
signs, the free passage of pedestrians or vehicles; a tree that poses a threat to public safety or 
property.  

(11) Silviculture : The art and science of controlling the establishment, growth, competition, health, and 
quality of forests and woodlands to meet the diverse needs and values of landowners and society on a 
sustainable basis.  

(12) Tree : Any self-supporting woody plant growing upon the earth that provides single or multiple trunks 
with potential d.b.h. of two (2) inches and grows to an overall height of 15 feet or more.  

(13) Tree removal : The cutting or removal of 50 percent or more of the crown, trunk, or root system of a 
tree, or causing the death of a tree through damaging, poisoning, or other direct or indirect action.  

(14) Tree survey : A survey plan prepared by a surveyor, registered forester or certified arborist indicating 
an accurate location, size, and species, and/or other desired measurements or information on trees on 
a property or given location.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-7 Licensing. 

It shall be unlawful for any person who is being paid a fee for the business of planting, cutting, trimming, 
pruning, removing, or otherwise modifying trees within the city limits of the City of Conway to conduct such 
business without first signing an affidavit stating that he or she has received and read the City of Conway tree 
protection ordinance and 2001 ANSI A300 Standards or any current revision of these documents. Such affidavit 
shall be completed and submitted when making application for, or renewing, a City of Conway business license.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-8 Tree preservation. 

The removal or destruction of any tree as referenced below within the city limits of Conway without the 
necessary tree removal permit shall be prohibited. No person shall intentionally damage, cut, carve, transplant, or 
remove any tree, attach any signs with rope, wire, nails, or other contrivance to any tree, allow any substance 
which is harmful to such trees to come in contact with them or be placed within their dripline over pervious areas; 
or intentionally set fire or permit any fire to burn when such fire or the heat thereof will injure any portion of any 
tree listed below. Any such actions shall be subject to the penalties established in section 3-4-14. All trees required 
for preservation shall be in addition to any landscaping required by the Conway zoning ordinance as part of the 
overall development of the site.  

(a) Protected trees . The following trees shall be considered protected trees and shall not be removed 
from any lot in the city limits of Conway without a protected tree removal permit:  



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 4 of 10 

 1  Flowering Dogwood  Cornus florida  4″ d.b.h. or greater  
2  Crape Myrtle  Lagerstroemia indica  4″ d.b.h. or greater  
3  Redbud  Cercis Canadensis  4″ d.b.h. or greater  
4  American Holly  Ilex opaca  8″ d.b.h. or greater  
5  Live Oak  Quercus virginiana  8″ d.b.h. or greater  
6  Southern Magnolia  Magnolia grandiflora  8″ d.b.h. or greater  
7  Red maple  Acer rubrum  8″ d.b.h. or greater  
8  Bald cypress  Taxodium distichum  8″ d.b.h. or greater  
9  River Birch  Betula nigra  8″ d.b.h. or greater  
10  Sycamore  Plantanus occidentalis  8″ d.b.h. or greater  
11  All Oak Species  Quercus  14″ d.b.h. or greater  

 

The proposed removal of any tree listed above may be subject to mitigation of trees approved for removal, 
section 3-4-10.  

(b) Landmark trees. The following trees shall be considered landmark trees and shall not be removed from 
any lot in the city limits of Conway without a landmark tree removal permit:  

(1) All live oak trees designated on the map entitled "The Oaks of Conway, South Carolina," 
researched and prepared by Evelyn Snider, Joseph N. Pinson, Jr., and Eugene Holbert;  

(2) Any live oak tree equal to or in excess of 30 inches d.b.h.;  

(3) Any tree that city council designates as a landmark tree.  

The proposed removal of any tree listed above shall be subject to mitigation of trees approved for 
removal, section 3-4-10.  

(c) Required landscaping . Any tree planted or retained to meet the City of Conway landscape regulations 
of the zoning ordinance may not be removed without a tree cutting permit. The proposed removal of 
any tree listed above shall be subject to mitigation of trees approved for removal, section 3-4-10.  

(d) Setback area . For all nonresidentially zoned lots, all proposed or approved major residential 
development sites (more than five (5) lots or units or the creation of a new street proposed for 
dedication) and for all residentially zoned lots two (2) acres or greater, all trees equal to or greater than 
eight (8) inches d.b.h. may not be removed from the exterior setback area without a tree cutting 
permit. Exceptions shall be made for ingress/egress to the parcel.  

(e) Interior of a lot . In addition to the trees preserved in the setback area, all nonresidential zoned lots, all 
proposed or approved major residential development sites (more than five (5) lots or units or the 
creation of a new street proposed for dedication) and for all residentially zoned sites two (2) acres or 
greater, a minimum of 10 trees (minimum six (6) inch d.b.h.) or 60 inches of d.b.h. must be retained 
per actual acre. If the site is less than an acre in size, the fractional requirement (rounded up to the 
nearest whole number) shall prevail. If there are protected and landmark trees on site that are 
required for preservation under subsections (a) and (b) above, those trees may be counted to meet the 
minimum interior lot tree preservation. Where possible, efforts should be made to retain groupings of 
trees rather than isolated individual trees. No tree removal of any kind may occur without a tree 
cutting permit. Properties unable to, due site constraints, topography, or absence of trees on the site, 
preserve the minimum amount of trees listed above shall be subject to mitigation of trees approved for 
removal, section 3-4-10.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 5 of 10 

Sec. 3-4-9 Tree permits required. 

(a) Protected tree removal permit . This permit is necessary to remove any protected tree on any lot within the 
City of Conway. Requests to remove protected trees shall be reviewed on a case-by-case basis by the city 
arborist. Prior to the issuance of a tree removal permit for a protected tree, the city arborist shall determine 
that one (1) or more of the following conditions exist:  

(1) The tree is considered hazardous per the definition in section 3-4-6(8);  

(2) The tree is dead or in irreversible decline as determined by the city arborist;  

(3) The tree has an untreatable disease or insect pest problem as certified by a registered forester, 
certified arborist, or by the city arborist;  

(4) The tree or its root system is causing visible damage to structures, and/or areas used for pedestrian 
and vehicular traffic;  

(5) The tree or its root system is causing damage to structures or underground utilities, as certified by a 
structural engineer;  

(6) Trees within power line easements that cannot be properly pruned by the local utility company;  

(7) Trees, after proper pruning, which remain classed as hazard trees;  

(8) The tree is located in the footprint of a proposed addition or expansion, and there are no practical 
alternative locations on the lot for the addition or expansion or practical means to build around the 
tree.  

Protected trees may only be removed with the written approval of the city arborist. All protected tree 
removal permits are valid for six (6) months from the date of issue.  

A condition of the protected tree removal permit may be mitigation as defined in section 3-4-10.  

(b) Landmark tree removal permit . This permit is necessary to remove any landmark tree on any lot within the 
City of Conway. Requests to remove landmark trees shall be reviewed on a case-by-case basis by the city 
arborist, then by the Conway tree board. The Conway tree board may authorize the city arborist to issue a 
landmark tree removal permit for the removal of a landmark tree provided the board determines one (1) or 
more of the following:  

(1) The tree is classed as a hazard tree, is in irreversible decline, and cannot be properly pruned to 
alleviate such condition;  

(2) The tree is diseased or infectious as certified by a registered forester or certified arborist or the city 
arborist and cannot be properly treated or pruned to alleviate such condition;  

(3) The tree is located on an undeveloped lot in such position that the lot cannot be developed in a 
reasonable and prudent manner. In this instance, the Conway tree board shall consider a request for a 
variance from a particular zoning requirement if it would alleviate the need to remove such landmark 
tree; and if so determined, initiate such request with the board of zoning appeals. In this instance, if no 
alternative to the removal of the landmark tree can be obtained, the Conway tree board may attach 
any conditions to the permit the tree board deems necessary to ensure compliance with the intent of 
this chapter;  

(4) The tree is causing visible structural damage to a building and no feasible alternative other than 
removal of such tree exists, as certified by a structural engineer.  

All landmark tree removal permits are valid for six (6) months from the date of issue.  

A condition of the landmark tree removal permit shall be mitigation as defined in section 3-4-10.  



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 6 of 10 

(c) Tree cutting permit . This permit is necessary to remove any tree from any nonresidentially zoned lot in the 
city limits of Conway, any proposed or approved major residential development sites (more than five (5) lots 
or units or the creation of a new street proposed for dedication) or any residentially zoned lot two (2) acres 
or greater. All developments should strive to minimize the removal of existing trees. The following items 
shall be submitted to the city arborist when requesting a tree cutting permit and may be submitted on the 
same map:  

(1) A tree survey depicting all protected and landmark trees, all waterways, wetlands and setback areas.  

(2) A tree preservation plan prepared in accordance with section 3-4-8. This plan shall show the location, 
size and species of all trees proposed for protection.  

(3) A tree mitigation plan prepared in accordance with section 3-4-10. This plan shall show the location, 
size and species of all trees proposed for planting.  

All trees proposed for protection or preservation must be clearly identified in the field prior to the issuance 
of a tree cutting permit by the city. All tree cutting permits are valid for two (2) years from the date of issue.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07; Ord. No. 2009-05-11(A), 5/11/09) 

Sec. 3-4-10 Mitigation of trees approved for removal. 

In cases where any type of tree removal permit is issued, mitigation planting may be required to compensate 
for the loss of the removed tree(s). The species of replacement trees shall be selected from one (1) of the following 
sources:  

(1) Shade trees or ornamental trees listed in the recommended plant list of the Conway zoning ordinance 
(section 11.1115);  

(2) Trees listed as protected trees in section 3-4-8(a) of this chapter;  

(3) Other trees as approved by the city arborist.  

All mitigation tree selections shall be reviewed and approved by the city arborist or the Conway tree 
board. An effort should be made to include a diversity of species when planting mitigation trees.  

Where the city arborist determines that a site cannot sustainably support the required replacement, 
due to the size and shape and/or structures and/or viable site constraints, a fee based on the current nursery 
market value plus installation costs shall be paid to the City of Conway Tree City USA account. All trees 
planted to satisfy the mitigation requirements shall be healthy living trees. The owner, occupant, tenant or 
agent shall be jointly and severally responsible for the maintenance of all trees. Any dead or damaged tree 
shall be promptly replaced with a tree of a similar size and type. All trees required for mitigation shall be in 
addition to any landscaping required by the Conway zoning ordinance as part of the overall development of 
the site.  

(a) Mitigation for trees removed with any approved protected or landmark tree removal permit. The 
following table shall be used to calculate mitigation tree requirements for protected and 
landmark trees removed with a permit.  

Table 1.  

 Diameter of Tree 
Removed (d.b.h.) 
Rounded Up  

Number of Replacement  Minimum Caliper of 
Replacement  

Alternate Fee  

4″ through 6″  Equal to number of d.b.h. 
inches removed  

2″  Current nursery market 
value for required 



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 7 of 10 

replacement plus 
associated installation 
costs  

7″ or greater  Equal to number of d.b.h. 
inches removed  

4″  Same as above  

 

All required mitigation trees must be planted within 12 months of the issuance of the removal 
permit. All violations of the required tree planting shall be subject to the penalties outlined in section 
3-4-14, Table 2.  

(b) Mitigation for property unable to retain the required number of trees with any approved tree cutting 
permit.  

(1) If a property owner obtains a tree cutting permit to remove any tree planted or retained to meet 
the City of Conway landscape requirements from the zoning ordinance, he/she shall be required 
to replant the minimum landscape requirements for the use as stated in the Conway zoning 
ordinance.  

(2) If a property owner/applicant cannot preserve or if there is less than a minimum of 10 trees 
(minimum six (6) inch d.b.h.) or 60 inches of d.b.h. per actual acre, the property owner/applicant 
shall re-establish the number of three (3) inch d.b.h. replacement trees necessary to meet the 60 
d.b.h. per acre requirement. If the site is less than an acre in size, the fractional requirement 
(rounded up to the nearest whole number) shall prevail.  

(3) A property owner may apply to the tree board for relief from the tree mitigation requirements. 
The tree board may waive the tree mitigation requirements if the applicant illustrates that there 
are unique topographic conditions that prevent the planting of the replacement trees. In this 
case, the tree board may require that payment of a fine in the amount equal to the current 
nursery market value for the required replacement trees plus associated costs of installation for 
as many three (3) inch d.b.h. trees necessary to meet the total required d.b.h. inches of the site.  

(4) All mitigations trees required as a condition of a tree cutting permit must be installed prior to the 
issuance of a certificate of occupancy of any commercial building or residential home or the 
recording of a final plat on any proposed major development. The property owner or developer 
may post a financial guarantee for mitigation trees in accordance to the standards of section 
11.1105 of the landscape requirements of the Conway zoning ordinance.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-11 Tree protection during construction. 

During any type of development or construction, the following measures shall be utilized to protect any on-
site tree that is not designated for removal:  

(a) It shall be the responsibility of the person in charge of the erection, repair, alteration or removal of any 
building or structure to place a guard or protector around any tree or shrub on subject lot or in the 
public rights-of-way so as to prevent injury to such tree or shrub arising out of such erection, repair, 
alteration or removal.  

(b) Protective barriers, such as silt fences, bollards, roping or other such devices as approved by the city 
arborist shall be placed by the person requesting construction permits around each tree at the drip line 
of the canopy of each tree to prevent any type of encroachment under the drip line, or six (6) times the 
diameter at breast height (d.b.h.) whichever is greater.  



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 8 of 10 

(c) Trenching shall be no closer than six (6) times the diameter at breast height to the affected tree, nor 
disrupt more than 30 percent of the drip line root area.  

(d) No other types of disturbance, equipment or material storage, or construction shall be allowed under 
the drip line of any tree without prior approval of the city arborist.  

(e) The city arborist may make an on-site inspection at any time in order to verify compliance with the 
above and may place a stop work order on the work site for infractions or violations of this section of 
this chapter.  

(f) It shall be unlawful for any person to willfully fell, cut down, prune, undermine, burn or otherwise 
damage or destroy any tree or shrub in or upon any public area or right-of-way.  

(g) No soil disturbance, trenching, grading, paving or storage of equipment/materials shall take place 
within the critical root zone of any protected or landmark tree.  

(h) When save trees are damaged or the critical root zone is disturbed, the property owner shall be subject 
to the requirements in section 3-4-14.  

(i) Unnecessary cutting, breaking or skinning of roots, skinning and bruising of bark, smothering trees by 
stockpiling construction or excavation materials within the drip line is prohibited. Also prohibited is 
excessive foot or vehicular traffic and parking of vehicles within the pervious area within the drip line.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-12 Tree pruning. 

Tree pruning shall be accomplished in accordance with the procedures set forth in the 2001 American 
National Standards Institute (ANSI) A300 Tree Care Operations standards or its revision/replacement.  

The use of unnatural pruning techniques shall be considered an unauthorized removal of a tree unless the 
tree is designated on an approved landscape plan to be shaped or formed in an unnatural pattern or to be 
maintained at a certain height. Examples of unnatural pruning are topping, stubbing, dehorning, lion-tailing, or 
lopping. These practices are detrimental to tree health and are specifically prohibited.  

Any tree on any public street or highway right-of-way or easement, owned or maintained by the City of 
Conway or any tree on private property defined as a hazard tree or public nuisance tree in section 3-4-6 may be 
pruned based upon the recommendation of the city arborist.  

City arborist may have hazard trees or public nuisance trees on public or private property pruned in the 
interest of public safety. A notification in the form of a door hanger will be used, which serves to alert the owners 
that crews will be in the area within a three (3) day period. Contact information will be provided on the door 
hanger including name and telephone number for the city's beautification department.  

Any property owner requesting the pruning of a landmark tree must obtain a tree pruning permit. Property 
owners shall apply directly to the city arborist for this permit.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-13 Exemptions from this chapter. 

(a) If any tree is determined by the city arborist to be diseased, injured or located in a manner that endangers 
the public health, safety or welfare of city residents, the city arborist may authorize its immediate removal.  

(b) In case of emergencies such as windstorms, ice storms, hurricanes, tornadoes, drought or other disasters, 
the city arborist may waive the requirements of this chapter during the emergency period so that the 



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 9 of 10 

requirements of this chapter would in no way hamper private or public work to restore order to the City of 
Conway.  

(c) The removal of live trees in conjunction with tree farms, agricultural practices, or commercial nurseries.  

(d) Silviculture so long as the following conditions are met:  

(1) Property must contain at least five (5) acres.  

(2) Activities occurring on the tract must be devoted of the production of marketable forest products.  

(3) No trees may be removed within 50 feet of the entire perimeter of the lot.  

(4) No protected or landmark trees may be removed.  

(5) The silviculture activity shall be in compliance with the latest South Carolina Best Management 
Practices Manual for Forestry.  

(6) A silviculture permit is obtained from the city arborist. The application for such permits must include a 
boundary survey of the area to be harvested, depiction of the buffer area, location, size and species of 
any protected or landmark tree on the site and tree protection and silt fencing devices for preservation 
of trees in the buffer area, protected trees and landmark trees. Also, the permit application must 
include a narrative detailing proposed reforestation method.  

(7) No development may take place on a parcel that has been issued a silviculture permit with three (3) 
years of the cutting unless the property owner meets the replacement standards detailed in section 3-
4-14, Violations.  

(8) All silviculture permits are valid for two (2) years from the date of issue.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-14 Violations and enforcement. 

The city arborist shall have the authority to inspect property for compliance with this chapter and issue stop 
work orders on any actions found in violation of this chapter.  

(a) Protected and landmark tree violations. Protected and landmark trees cut, removed, or pruned in 
violation of this chapter are subject to the following penalties: plant replacement trees on site; and/or; 
pay a fine to the City of Conway Tree City account. The Conway tree board shall make the final 
determination of any penalty for the removal of a protected or landmark tree without a permit. The 
following table may be used by the Conway tree board as a guide for penalties of violations.  

Table 2. Penalties—Removal of Protected or Landmark Trees Without a Permit.  

 Diameter of Tree 
Removed (d.b.h.) 
Rounded Up  

Number of Replacement  Minimum Caliper of 
Replacement  

Alternate Fee  

4″ through 6″  Double the total d.b.h. of 
the removed tree  

2″  Current nursery market 
value for required 
replacement plus 
associated costs of 
installation  

7″ through 12″  Double the total d.b.h. of 
the removed tree  

4″  Same as above  

13″ or greater  Triple the total d.b.h. of 
the removed tree  

4″  Same as above  



 
 

 
    Created: 2024-01-09 15:47:34 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 61) 

 
Page 10 of 10 

 

(b) All other violations. Trees removed from any non-residentially zoned lots, proposed or approved major 
residential development sites (more than five (5) lots/units or the creation of a new street proposed 
for dedication) or residentially zoned lots two (2) acres or greater in violation of this chapter are 
subject to the following:  

(1) If the city arborist cannot determine the d.b.h. of the removed trees, said individual, 
organization, or corporation shall be subject to a fine equal to $.10 per square foot of cleared 
property;  

(2) If the city arborist can determine the d.b.h. of the removed trees, said individual, organization, or 
corporation shall be subject to the penalties listed in Table 2, above.  

The Conway tree board shall make the final determination of any penalty for trees removed without a permit 
in violation of this chapter.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

Sec. 3-4-15 Appeals. 

(a) Denial of protected tree removal permit, tree cutting permit, silviculture permit or tree pruning permit . Any 
person denied a tree removal permit by the city arborist may appeal to the Conway tree board. An appeal 
must be filed in writing within 10 working days of the denial of the permit to the city arborist.  

(b) Denial of landmark tree removal permit . Any person denied a landmark tree removal permit by the Conway 
tree board may appeal to the Conway city council. An appeal must be filed in writing within 10 working days 
of the denial of the permit to the city arborist.  

(c) Appeal of violation penalty . Any person assessed a penalty for the violation of this chapter by the Conway 
tree board may appeal to the Conway city council. An appeal must be filed in writing within 10 working days 
of the denial of the permit to the city arborist.  

(Ord. No. 2007-11-12(A), 11/12/07) 

 


	CHAPTER_4___Tree_Preservation_ (2).pdf
	Sec. 3-4-15 Appeals.
	Sec. 3-4-4 Jurisdiction.
	Sec. 3-4-5 Conway tree board.
	Sec. 3-4-6 Definitions.
	Sec. 3-4-7 Licensing.
	Sec. 3-4-8 Tree preservation.
	Sec. 3-4-9 Tree permits required.
	Sec. 3-4-10 Mitigation of trees approved for removal.
	Sec. 3-4-11 Tree protection during construction.
	Sec. 3-4-12 Tree pruning.
	Sec. 3-4-13 Exemptions from this chapter.
	Sec. 3-4-14 Violations and enforcement.
	Sec. 3-4-15 Appeals.




